**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

VICTOR TELLEZ,

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO,

Respondent.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
BY AND THROUGH SUMMER STEPHAN,
DISTRICT ATTORNEY FOR THE COUNTY OF
SAN DIEGO,

Real Party in Interest.

Supreme Court No.
S277072

Court of Appeals No.
D079716

Superior Court No.
SCE369196

**PETITIONER'S
OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

**After Published Opinion by the Court of Appeal,
Fourth District, Division One, No. D079716
Filed October 18, 2022**

MEGAN MARCOTTE, Chief Deputy
Office of the Alternate Public Defender
County of San Diego
ANTHONY B. PARKER,
State Bar No. 299731

ISSUES PRESENTED

(1) Does constitutionally effective assistance of counsel require defense counsel to advise a defendant that a guilty plea may subject the defendant to commitment proceedings under the Sexually Violent Predator Act (Welf. & Inst. Code §6600 et seq.; SVPA)? If so, did petitioner in this case suffer prejudice?

(2) In the alternative, should this Court, in the exercise of its supervisory powers (see e.g., *People v. Howard* (1992) 1 Cal.4th 1132, 1175; *Bunnell v Superior Court* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 592, 602), require that a defendant be advised that a guilty plea may subject him to SVPA commitment proceedings? If so, is petitioner entitled to relief?

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On March 25, 2017, Victor Tellez consumed approximately a pint of vodka and went to the mall. While there, he approached three boys, laid down behind them, and ran his hand across the backs of two of the boys, ages 9 and 10. The boys got up quickly and walked away. Tellez began walking in the same direction where he then approached a girl, 13, from behind, wrapped his arms around her, and pulled her closer. When she turned around and faced Tellez, he let go of her, walked away, and sat down elsewhere. At this point she found a security guard and informed them of the incident. Tellez was then arrested for a misdemeanor violation of Penal Code section 647.6, subdivision (a)(1), annoying or molesting a child.

Tellez was arraigned on March 29, 2017, upon a three-count complaint. (Tellez Petition for Review S277072 Ex. A: Complaint.) The Complaint charged three separate felony counts of lewd acts in violation of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a). There were no enhancements on any of the charges. Tellez's maximum exposure in the case was 12 years in state prison.

At arraignment, the Office of the San Diego County Public Defender was appointed to represent Tellez. The case was assigned to a Deputy Public Defender as defense counsel.

At arraignment, a readiness hearing was set for April 7, 2017, and a preliminary hearing was set for April 12, 2017.

On December 11, 2017, Tellez, without effective assistance, entered a change of plea to one count of lewd act upon a child in violation of Penal Code section 288, subdivision (a). (Tellez Petition for Review S277072 Ex. B: Change of Plea Form and Docket; Ex. C: Change of Plea Transcript.)

Tellez was not advised that his guilty plea could subject him to an indeterminate commitment under the Sexually Violent Predator Act (SVPA). (Tellez Petition for Review S277072 Exhibit D: Petitioner's Declaration; Ex.B: Change of Plea Form and Docket; Ex. C: Change of Plea Transcript.) If Tellez had been advised of possible SVPA consequences, he would not have pled guilty. (Tellez Petition for Review S277072 Ex.t D: Petitioner's Declaration.)

Tellez was sentenced on the case by the Honorable Robert Amador on December 20, 2017, to three years in state prison. (Tellez Petition for Review S277072 Ex.t E: Sentencing Docket and Abstract of Judgment.)

On August 1, 2019, Tellez was released by the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation and was immediately arrested by the San Diego County Sheriff's Department pursuant to an Order to Produce for Arraignment under Welfare and Institutions Code section 6600 *et seq.* regarding the involuntary treatment of a sexually violent predator. (Tellez Petition for Review S277072 Ex. F: Petition for Involuntary Treatment of a Sexually Violent Predator, Filed May 21, 2019; Ex. G: Order to Produce.) Since then, Tellez has been in the physical custody of the San Diego County Sheriff's Department pending civil commitment proceedings under the SVPA.

The Alternate Public Defender was appointed to represent Tellez in these proceedings after the Primary Public Defender declared a conflict on or around October 4, 2019.

On March 2, 2021, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Superior Court of San Diego, East County Division, claiming ineffective assistance of counsel. On May 4, 2021, the Honorable Roderick Shelton issued an order to show cause and subsequently denied the petition.

On November 22, 2021, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the Fourth District Court of Appeal, Division 1. The appellate court summarily denied the petition on November 30, 2021.

On December 14, 2021, Petitioner filed a petition for review in this Court. On February 16, 2022, this Court granted review and transferred the matter back to the appellate court and ordered the appellate court to vacate the summary denial and issue an order to show cause.

Oral argument was heard in the appellate court on October 12, 2022, and the court denied the petition in a published opinion on October 18, 2022. (*In re Tellez* (2022) 84 Cal.App.5th 292.) Petitioner again filed a petition for review.

In granting Tellez's petition for review, this Court requested briefing on the above issues presented. In this opening brief, Tellez addresses these issues and incorporates by reference the arguments asserted in his original petition for review and at the Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. Tellez Suffered Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Because Counsel Failed to Advise Tellez of the Significant and Severe Consequences of An Indeterminate Commitment Under the SVPA, In Violation of the Sixth Amendment

A. The Sixth Amendment Requires Defense Counsel to Advise a Defendant that a Guilty Plea May Subject the Defendant to Commitment Proceedings Under the SVPA

1. A Defendant is Entitled to Competent Counsel's Advice Before Pleading Guilty

“Under both the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 15, of the California Constitution, a criminal defendant has the right to the assistance of counsel.” (*People v. Ledesma* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 171, 215, citing *Strickland v. Washington* (1984) 466 U.S. 668, 684-685; *People v. Pope* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 412, 424-425.) Counsel alone is not enough, rather “the right to counsel is the right to the effective assistance of counsel.” (*Strickland, supra*, 466 U.S. at pp. 685-686, citing *McMann v. Richardson* (1970) 397 U.S. 759, 771, fn 14.)

The Sixth Amendment right to competent counsel extends to plea bargaining. “Plea bargaining and pleading are critical stages in the criminal process at which a defendant is entitled, under both the Sixth Amendment to the federal Constitution and article I, section 15 of the California Constitution, to the effective assistance of legal counsel.” (*In re Resendiz* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 230, 239, abrogated in part on other grounds by *Padilla v. Kentucky* (2010) 559 U.S. 356, citing *In re Alvernas* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 924.) When a defendant enters a guilty plea they may only do so after a knowing

and intelligent waiver of their constitutional rights. (*In re Alvernaz, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 933; *Brady v. United States* (1970) 397 U.S. 742, 748.) Such waivers can only be made with the assistance of competent counsel. (*In re Ibarra* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 277, 284.) Therefore, if ineffective assistance of counsel results in a defendant pleading guilty, the defendant’s Sixth Amendment rights have been violated. (*Id.* at p. 239.)

Although the decision to plead guilty is ultimately made by the defendant, it is his counsel—not the defendant—who is “particularly qualified to make an informed evaluation of the proffered plea bargain.” (*People v. Maguire* (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 1022, 1028, citing *In re Alvernaz, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 1027-1028; *People v. Stanworth* (1974) 11 Cal. 3d 588, 611.) It is thus expected that a criminal defendant relies on his “counsel’s independent evaluation of the charges, applicable law, evidence, and risks and probable outcome of trial.” (*People v. Maguire, supra*, 67 Cal.App.4th at p. 1028, citing *In re Alvernaz, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 1027-1028.)

In *Strickland*, the United States Supreme Court developed a two-pronged inquiry to be applied to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. The inquiry begins with whether counsel’s representation “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 366, citing *Strickland, supra*, 466 U.S. at p. 688; *People v. Mai* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 986, 1009.) For the second prong of the inquiry, a defendant must show that, “but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 366, citing *Strickland, supra*, 466 U.S. at p. 694.) When a defendant claims that his guilty plea was a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must “show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pleaded guilty.” (*Hill v. Lockhart* (1985) 474 U.S. 52, 59.)

2. The Duty of Counsel Under the Sixth Amendment to Advise of Potential Consequences of a Guilty Plea Is Not Limited by the Collateral Consequence Doctrine

In *In re Resendiz*, this Court grappled with whether the Sixth Amendment required counsel to advise of potential immigration consequences that would result from a guilty plea. This Court refused to find a categorical bar to “an ineffective assistance of counsel claim based on counsel’s affirmative misadvice about the adverse immigration consequences of a plea.” (*In re Resendiz, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 248.) While the United States Supreme Court’s decision in *Padilla v. Kentucky, supra*, abrogated the holding in *In re Resendiz*, in that *Padilla* held that the Sixth Amendment imposed a duty on counsel to advise of the potential immigration consequences of a plea, rather than *Resendiz*’s narrower duty to avoid affirmative misadvice, this Court’s insight into the scope of the Sixth Amendment is still instructive. (See *Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 366, [“We conclude that advice regarding deportation is not categorically removed from the ambit of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel”].)

In *Resendiz*, the Attorney General argued, in part, that there should be a complete categorical bar to ineffective assistance of counsel claims based on immigration consequences because immigration consequences are “collateral” in nature. (*In re Resendiz, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 242.) In the government’s view, defense counsel only must advise of “direct” consequences, meaning those consequences that inexorably follow from a conviction. (*Ibid.*) However, this Court correctly noted that “the collateral consequences doctrine and ineffective assistance claims have separate origins.” (*Id.* at p. 243.) “The collateral consequences doctrine . . . originated as a policy-based adjunct to the due process requirement that a court ensure the guilty pleas it accepts are voluntarily given. (*Ibid.* [emphasis added].) In contrast, the right to competent counsel in the context

of guilty pleas arises out of the Sixth Amendment's requirement that defendants are entitled to effective assistance of counsel. (*Ibid.*) The duties and requirements of court and counsel are not the same when it comes to their respective roles in the plea bargaining process in that "[d]efense counsel clearly has far greater duties toward the defendant than has the court taking a plea." (*Id.* at p. 246.) Therefore, the Sixth Amendment demands more from counsel than does the due process clause from the courts. (*Ibid.*)

Resedniz highlighted, and *Padilla* later stated affirmatively, that the United States Supreme Court has never embraced a distinction between collateral and direct consequences in evaluating a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 364 ["We, however, have never applied a distinction between direct and collateral consequences."]; *In re Resendiz, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 244.) Under *Strickland*, the critical inquiry is whether counsel's performance was reasonable considering the particular facts of the case and the totality of the circumstances. (*In re Resendiz, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 240.)

Part of defense counsel's affirmative duties required by the Sixth Amendment is to "consult with the defendant on important issues." (*Id.* at p. 246, citing *Strickland, supra*, 466 U.S. at p. 688.) A defendant's decision whether to plead guilty or preserve their constitutional rights and proceed to trial is certainly one of those "important issues," if not the most important. Because the inquiry under *Strickland*, requires a case-by-case analysis of the totality of the circumstances to determine if counsel's assistance was objectionably reasonable, a bright line distinction between direct and collateral consequences cannot exist in harmony with the duties imposed by the Sixth Amendment.

Padilla v. Kentucky changed the landscape of counsel’s duty under the Sixth Amendment in regard to advising defendants of the consequences of their pleas. The Court’s decision in *Padilla* underscored that the Sixth Amendment’s right to competent counsel should not be limited. In holding that the Sixth Amendment requires counsel to advise of the potential for deportation, *Padilla* acknowledged that there are certain consequences of a guilty plea that are so unique and severe that defendants must be made aware of them prior to pleading guilty. (*Padilla, supra*, 5559 U.S. at p. 365)

Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and is not governed by the same standard imposed by the due process clause. A defendant is guaranteed competent counsel during the plea bargaining process, which includes the right to have counsel advise on potential consequences of their plea. As such, an inquiry into a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that arises from a guilty plea should not be hindered by any categorical bar, but instead must be analyzed on a case-by-case basis to determine whether counsels conduct was objectionably reasonable under the totality of the circumstances.

3. Consequences Under the SVPA are Analogous to Immigration Consequences and Therefore Under *Padilla v. Kentucky* There is A Sixth Amendment Duty to Advise of SVPA Consequences

The United States Supreme Court in *Padilla* found that it had “long been recognized that deportation is a “particularly severe ‘penalty’” (*Padilla, supra*, 559, U.S. at p. 365, citing *Fong Yue Ting v. United States* (1983) 149 U.S. 698, 740.) Acknowledging that removal proceedings are civil in nature, the Court noted that “deportation is nevertheless intimately related to the criminal process.” (*Ibid.*) In fact, deportation may be the most

significant “penalty” imposed as a result of a guilty plea. (*Id.* at p. 364.) Because deportation is so “enmeshed” in the criminal process, “advice regarding deportation is not categorically removed from the ambit of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel.” (*Id.* at p. 366.)

Padilla held that the Sixth Amendment requires counsel to “inform her client whether his plea carries a risk of deportation” (*Padilla, supra*, 559, U.S. at p. 373.) In so holding, the Court noted that the severity of deportation, which is akin to “banishment” or “exile,” made it critical for counsel to advise a client of even the risk of deportation. (*Id.* at p. 374.)

In *People v. Moore* (1998) 69 Cal.App.4th 626, the court analogized SVPA proceedings to deportation. The issue in *Moore* was whether the court had a duty to advise of SVPA consequences. As discussed previously, whether a court must advise a defendant of the consequence of a plea is a matter of due process. Therefore, in that context, the court in *Moore* utilized the collateral consequence doctrine, finding that a possible commitment under the SVPA was not a direct consequence. (*Id.* at p. 630) The court analogized SVPA proceedings with deportation since each depend on “additional findings by a different tribunal after the defendant has been sentenced.” (*Id.* at p. 633.) At the time, a court had to advise a defendant of the possibility of deportation, even though it was considered a collateral consequence. (*Ibid.*) However, that requirement was imposed by statute. (*Ibid.*) Since there was no similar statute regarding the SVPA, the court held that there was no duty to advise of potential commitment proceedings under the SVPA.

In *People v. Codinha* (2021) 71 Cal.App.5th 1047, the court held that the Sixth Amendment did not require counsel to advise of potential consequences under the SVPA. *Codinha* found that SVPA consequences are not analogous to immigration consequences, stating the “analogy is inapt.” (*Id.* at p. 1065.) The court acknowledged *Moore* but found it

distinguishable since it dealt with the *court's* obligation to advise. (*Id.* at p. 1066.) However, the analogy stands regardless of the distinction. Nothing about the holding in *Moore* affects the court's conclusion that SVPA and immigration consequences are analogous.

Moore is correct, SVPA and immigration consequences are analogous. The risk of a lifetime deprivation of freedom under the SVPA is a significant consequence akin to deportation. *Padilla* likened deportation to “banishment” or “exile”. If a petition under the SVPA is sustained, “the person shall be committed for an indeterminate term to the custody of the State Department of State Hospitals.” (Welf. & Inst. Code § 6604.) An indefinite involuntary commitment in a state hospital is essentially a banishment from society, where an individual's freedom is even more significantly curtailed than if they had been deported. And just as deportation is a potential lifetime penalty, so too is a commitment under the SVPA. Additional similarities between SVPA and immigration consequences are: 1) both are civil matters, 2) both involve detention proceedings, and 3) as noted in *Moore*, both require additional findings by a tribunal other than the one that took the plea.

Furthermore, like deportation proceedings, SVPA proceedings are wholly “enmeshed” in the criminal justice system. Only individuals who have been convicted of a specified offense are subjected to SVPA proceedings. (Welf. & Inst. Code § 6600, subd. (a)(2).) Unlike deportation, the only way an individual finds themselves in SVPA proceedings is through the criminal justice system. Every person who is serving a prison term and has a qualifying conviction under the SVPA is referred for an evaluation. (Welf. & Inst. Code § 6601, subd. (a).) If that individual is determined to be a sexually violent predator, then a petition is filed in the superior court. (*Id.* at subd. (h).) An individual facing a petition under the SVPA is entitled to an attorney. (Welf. & Inst. Code § 6602, subd. (a).) The

individual is afforded a probable cause hearing and a jury trial where the burden on the government is beyond a reasonable doubt. (Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 6602, 6604.) The similarities between a felony prosecution and SVPA proceedings are striking, and a substantial basis to conclude that SVPA and immigration consequences are both enmeshed within the criminal justice system.

Like deportation, the potential lifetime deprivation of liberty under an SVPA commitment is a significant penalty. Additionally, both SVPA proceedings and deportation proceedings are enmeshed in the criminal justice system. Based on these substantial similarities, and under *Moore*, SVPA consequences and immigration consequences are analogous. *Padilla* found a requirement under the Sixth Amendment to advise of the potential for deportation, and so too should this Court find the same requirement for the potential of SVPA commitment.

B. Tellez Suffered Actual Prejudice

In addition to establishing that defense counsel did not meet the threshold standards of competency, Tellez must establish that defense counsel's incompetence resulted in prejudice. (*In re Alvernaz, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 936.) The United States Supreme Court has held that prejudice is established when there is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." (*Strickland, supra*, 466 U.S. at p. 669.) In the context of guilty pleas, prejudice exists when there is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, [Defendant] would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." (*Hill v. Lockhart, supra*, 474 U.S. at p. 59; *In re Alvernaz, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 934; *In re Vargas, supra*, 83 Cal.App.4th at p. 1140; *People v. Maguire, supra*, 67

Cal.App.4th at p. 1032.) The likelihood of prevailing at said trial is not relevant to these findings. (*Lee v. United States* (2017) 137 S.Ct. 1958, 1965.)

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