No. S277072

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

IN RE VICTOR TELLEZ, ON HABEAS CORPUS.

Fourth Appellate District, Case No. D079716
San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. SCE369196
The Honorable Roderick W. Shelton, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROB BONTA (SBN 202668)
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS (SBN 162357)
Chief Assistant Attorney General
CHARLES C. RAGLAND (SBN 204928)
Senior Assistant Attorney General
COLLETTE C. CAVALIER (SBN 193833)
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
CHRISTINE Y. FRIEDMAN (SBN 186560)
Deputy Attorney General
*JOY UTOMI (SBN 279983)
Deputy Attorney General
600 West Broadway, Suite 1800
San Diego, CA 92101
P.O. Box 85266

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

ARGUMENT

I. TELLEZ HAS NOT ESTABLISHED A CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BASED ON HIS ATTORNEY’S FAILURE TO PROVIDE ADVICE ABOUT POTENTIAL SVP COMMITMENT PROCEEDINGS

Tellez’s trial counsel did not provide ineffective assistance in violation of the Sixth Amendment, even accepting Tellez’s allegation that counsel failed to advise him at the time of his plea

about possible future SVP proceedings.⁷ The Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel requires that a defense attorney provide competent advice about a decision whether to plead guilty to criminal charges. But it does not extend so far as to compel defense counsel to advise a defendant about the potential for future civil commitment proceedings under the SVPA that might be premised on a criminal conviction.

Moreover, Tellez would not be entitled to relief even if counsel did have a duty to provide advice about possible SVP proceedings because Tellez has failed to establish that he was prejudiced by the absence of such advice in this case.

A. The Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel in the context of guilty pleas

The federal and state Constitutions guarantee a criminal defendant the right to the effective assistance of counsel at a criminal trial. (U.S. Const., 6th & 14th Amends.; Cal. Const., art. I, § 15; *Strickland v. Washington* (1984) 466 U.S. 668, 686; *In re Long* (2020) 10 Cal.5th 764, 773.) This right applies to the assistance counsel gives to a defendant deciding whether to plead guilty. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 364.) To establish a claim

⁷ In responding to Tellez’s claim of deficient performance in the Court of Appeal below, respondent argued only that counsel had no constitutional obligation to provide advice about potential SVP proceedings and did not specifically contest Tellez’s factual allegations about counsel’s advice in this case. And the Court of Appeal decided the claim only on the basis of the legal question about the scope of the Sixth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel. It is only that legal question that is at issue in this case.

of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show that counsel's representation was deficient, meaning the representation fell below an objective standard of professional reasonableness. (*Strickland*, at pp. 687-688.) The defendant must also establish that there is "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." (*Id.* at p. 694.)

Accordingly, to make out a claim of ineffective assistance in the plea-bargain context, a defendant must show that counsel's advice about the plea fell outside "the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases" and that "but for counsel's incompetence, [the defendant] would not have pled guilty and would have insisted, instead, on proceeding to trial." (*In re Resendiz* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 230, 248, 253; see also *Hill v. Lockhart* (1985) 474 U.S. 52, 56, 59.) In assessing any ineffectiveness claim, a reviewing court "must indulge a 'strong presumption' that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance because it is all too easy to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable in the harsh light of hindsight." (*Bell v. Cone* (2002) 535 U.S. 685, 702, quoting *Strickland, supra*, 466 U.S. at p. 689.)

The Sixth Amendment is centrally concerned with legal assistance in defending against "criminal prosecution." (U.S. Const., 6th Amend.) This constitutional right thus has not been interpreted to require that a criminal defendant be advised by counsel about all *possible* consequences of a conviction. In

addressing the advisements that are due to a criminal defendant in the plea context, some courts have distinguished between a “direct” consequence, defined as having “a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect” on the defendant’s punishment, versus a “collateral” consequence, which “does not inexorably flow” from the conviction, holding that warnings about the former, but not the latter, are required. (See *Resendiz, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 242; see also *People v. Gurule* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 557, 634 [eligibility for death penalty in the event of a future, subsequent murder conviction is a collateral consequence]; *People v. Aguirre* (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 525, 529 [future federal prosecution is a collateral consequence]; *People v. Zaidi* (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 1470, 1484 [restitution fine is a direct consequence]; *People v. Moore* (1998) 69 Cal.App.4th 626, 630 [possibility of SVP commitment is a collateral consequence]; *People v. Victorian* (1992) 2 Cal.App.4th 954, 957 [length of a mandatory parole term is a direct consequence]; *Corley v. Department of Motor Vehicles* (1990) 222 Cal.App.3d 72, 76 [revocation of a driver’s license is a direct consequence]; *In re Birch* (1973) 10 Cal.3d 314, 321 [sex offender registration requirement is a direct consequence].)

Both this Court and the United States Supreme Court, however, have cautioned against drawing any rigid demarcation along those lines for Sixth Amendment purposes (see *Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 365; *Resendiz, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 242-248), especially because some consequences of a plea are “uniquely difficult to classify as either a direct or a collateral

consequence” (*Padilla*, at p. 366). Thus, “the circumstance-specific reasonableness inquiry required by *Strickland*” remains the touchstone in this context. (*Resendiz*, at p. 248, quoting *Roe v. Flores-Ortega* (2000) 528 U.S. 470, 478.)⁸

In *Resendiz*, this Court considered counsel’s obligation under the Sixth Amendment to provide advice regarding immigration consequences of a plea. (*Resendiz, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 240.) There, the defendant, a permanent resident, alleged that he had pleaded guilty upon his counsel’s incorrect advice that “he would have ‘no problems with immigration’” except that he would not be able to become a citizen. (*Id.* at p. 236.) The Court concluded that “affirmative misadvice regarding immigration consequences can in certain circumstances constitute ineffective assistance of counsel” (*id.* at p. 240) but that, even assuming incorrect advice was given, the defendant had not shown that he was prejudiced (*id.* at pp. 248-254). Preliminary to that determination, the Court in *Resendiz* held that neither Penal Code section 1016.5—which requires that a court taking a plea give a warning about immigration consequences—nor “the ‘collateral’ nature of immigration consequences” necessarily precluded “an ineffective

⁸ Neither this Court nor the United States Supreme Court has entirely disapproved the direct-versus-collateral framework, and that framework may still offer a useful way to analyze some questions about an attorney’s duty to provide constitutionally adequate advice in the plea context. Respondent does not contend here, however, that the constitutional question would be resolved simply by labeling SVP proceedings a collateral consequence of a plea.

assistance of counsel claim based on counsel’s misadvice about the adverse immigration consequences of a guilty plea.” (*Id.* at pp. 240-248.) The Court also observed that it was not persuaded that the Sixth Amendment imposes a “blanket obligation” on counsel to investigate and research immigration consequences, and it expressly declined to address “whether a mere failure to advise could also constitute ineffective assistance,” as that question was not squarely before the Court. (*Id.* at pp. 240, 249-250.)⁹

The United States Supreme Court later took up those questions in *Padilla*, which Tellez invokes as primary support for his argument here. (See OBM 15-18.) The defendant in *Padilla* sought postconviction relief, claiming that his counsel failed to correctly advise him that he could be deported as a result of his conviction. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 359.) After reviewing the then-recent changes to immigration law, the expansion of removable offenses, and the permanency of removal, the Supreme Court determined that Padilla’s counsel rendered constitutionally deficient assistance by failing to advise him that the offense to

⁹ Justice Mosk concurred in *Resendiz* but would have gone further. He would have held that “Penal Code section 1016.5 imposes an affirmative duty on counsel in any criminal case” to provide independent advice about immigration consequences, and that the defendant there was prejudiced by the lack of such advice. (*Resendiz, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at pp. 255-259 (conc. opn. of Mosk, J.)) Three dissenting Justices would have held that a court’s warnings under section 1016.5 render any incorrect advice by counsel harmless. (*Id.* at pp. 259-267 (conc. & dis. opn. of Brown, J.))

which he was pleading guilty would require deportation under federal immigration law. (*Id.* at p. 360.) The Court held that “counsel must inform her client whether his plea carries a risk of deportation.” (*Id.* at p. 374.)

Central to the Court’s holding was the “unique nature of deportation.” (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 365.) While acknowledging that “we must be especially careful about recognizing new grounds for attacking the validity of guilty pleas,” the Court emphasized several aspects of deportation that rendered correct advice on that topic particularly important and, indeed, so closely linked to the conviction that it implicated criminal defense counsel’s constitutional duties under the Sixth Amendment. (*Id.* at pp. 365-366, 372.)

Padilla explained that deportation is a “severe penalty,” equivalent to banishment or exile. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at pp. 365, 373.) And it is “intimately related to the criminal process,” as it is, as a legal matter, “nearly an automatic result” for noncitizen criminal offenders. (*Id.* at pp. 365-366.) The Court observed that, under federal law, if a noncitizen commits a removable offense, “his removal is practically inevitable.” (*Id.* at pp. 363-364.)¹⁰ The Court also explained that “[o]ur law has

¹⁰ Under current federal immigration law, for a person convicted of a removable offense, deportation is mandatory but for the possibility of the Attorney General exercising discretion to waive removal in limited situations. (8 U.S.C. § 1229b; *Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 363.) The *Padilla* Court’s characterization of deportation as nearly automatic appears to have been based on that de jure consequence of a removable offense. As a practical

(continued...)

enmeshed criminal convictions and the penalty of deportation for nearly a century,” and that “deportation is an integral part—indeed, sometimes the most important part—of the penalty that may be imposed on noncitizen defendants who plead guilty to specified crimes.” (*Id.* at p. 364, fn. omitted.) Because of these “unique” characteristics of deportation, the Court concluded that it is “‘most difficult’ to divorce the penalty from the conviction in the deportation context.” (*Id.* at p. 366.)

In determining that counsel’s performance “fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,” the *Padilla* Court also considered “the practice and expectations of the legal community” as reflected in various guidelines. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at pp. 366-367.) The Court recognized that “[a]uthorities of every stripe—including the American Bar Association, criminal defense and public defender organizations, authoritative treatises, and state and city bar publications—universally require defense attorneys to advise as to the risk of deportation consequences for non-citizen clients[.]” (*Id.* at p. 367, internal quotation marks omitted.) The Court noted that in *Padilla*’s case, the immigration statute was “succinct, clear, and explicit in defining the removal consequence” such that “*Padilla*’s counsel could have easily

(...continued)

matter, however, not every person legally subject to deportation will necessarily be promptly removed. (See, e.g., *People v. Espinoza* (2023) 14 Cal.5th 311, 319 [defendant did not learn of immigration consequences of plea until detained upon return from trip out of United States more than a decade after plea].)

determined that his plea would make him eligible for deportation simply from reading the text of the statute.” (*Id.* at p. 368.) The Court also stated that, in cases where the law is less clear, “a criminal defense attorney need do no more than advise a noncitizen client that pending criminal charges may carry a risk of adverse immigration consequences.” (*Id.* at p. 369.)

In light of “longstanding Sixth Amendment precedents, the seriousness of deportation as a consequence of a criminal plea, and the concomitant impact of deportation on families living lawfully in this country,” the Court held that counsel has a Sixth Amendment obligation to inform a defendant when his or her plea carries a risk of deportation. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 374.) Accordingly, the Court concluded that Padilla could make out a claim of deficient performance on the basis that counsel failed to provide that advice. (*Ibid.*)¹¹

B. Counsel was not constitutionally required to advise Tellez about possible SVP proceedings

Tellez cannot satisfy the first prong of *Strickland* because his attorney’s performance did not fall below an objective standard of reasonableness. In arguing that his attorney performed deficiently by failing to advise him that his guilty plea could permit the initiation of SVP proceedings in the future, Tellez relies principally on *Padilla*, analogizing the deportation

¹¹ The Court did not determine whether Padilla had established prejudice under the second prong of *Strickland*, instead remanding the matter for the state court to consider the issue in the first instance. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at p. 369.)

consequence at issue there to the potential for SVP civil commitment. (OBM 15-18.) But the circumstances in *Padilla* are distinguishable and highlight why advice about the potential SVP consequences of a plea does not come within the scope of the Sixth Amendment.

1. Potential commitment under the SVPA is unlike the deportation consequence of a guilty plea

One key aspect of *Padilla's* holding was that the deportation consequence of the plea at issue there was “intimately related to the criminal process” because it was similar in character to punishment and, at least legally, a near-mandatory result of a qualifying conviction. (*Padilla, supra*, 559 U.S. at pp. 363-366.) Tellez argues that potential SVP proceedings following a criminal conviction are similarly intertwined with punishment, so that they too implicate criminal defense counsel’s Sixth Amendment obligations. (OBM 15-18.) The analogy is inapt. SVP commitment is not so closely akin to criminal punishment that it implicates the special considerations supporting the result in *Padilla*.

Civil commitment proceedings under the SVPA are far from an automatic legal result of a qualifying conviction; rather the commitment process involves a number of discrete steps that filter the pool of eligible persons to a small minority who are eventually committed as SVPs. To initiate SVP proceedings, the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation must first screen an eligible inmate, generally at least six months before his or her scheduled release date. (§ 6601, subd. (a).) The screening is

“based on whether the person has committed a sexually violent predatory offense and on a review of the person’s social, criminal, and institutional history.” (§ 6601, subd. (b).) If the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation determines that the inmate is “likely” to meet the SVP criteria—that is, that the inmate suffers from a diagnosed mental disorder that makes him or her likely to engage in sexually violent criminal behavior—it refers the matter to the Department of State Hospitals (DSH) for a “full evaluation.” (§ 6601, subd. (b).)

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